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Attorneys for Plaintiffs

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF UTAH

CENTRAL DIVISION

RICHARD MUIRBROOK, individually No.
and on behalf of all others similarly

situated,
Plaintiffs,

V.

LEGENDARY FIELD EXHIBITIONS,

LLC, a Delaware limited liability

company, d/b/a ALLIANCE OF

AMERICAN FOOTBALL,
Defendant.

PROPOSED CLASS ACTION

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Richard Muirbrook (“Plaintiff”), individually and on behalf of all other similarly

situated employees (“Claimants™), brings this action as a class action against Plaintiff’s former

employer, Legendary Field Exhibitions, LLC d/b/a Alliance of American Football (the

“Company”), and allege, by and through undersigned counsel, as follows:
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INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiff brings this action on his own behalf, and on behalf of other similarly
situated former employees who worked for the Company for at least six of the last 12 months and
who were terminated as part of, or as the result of, mass layoffs or plant closings ordered by the
Company without 60 days advance written notice of their terminations as required by the Worker
Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (“WARN Act”), 29 U.S.C. § 2101 et seq. The
Company operated football teams in various cities throughout the United States, including in Salt
Lake City, under the name “Alliance of American Football.” On or around April 2, 2019, the
Company notified Plaintiff and the Claimants that they would be terminated as of April 3, 2019.
Accordingly, Plaintiff and Claimants were not provided the 60 days notice mandated under the
WARN Act. The lack of notice of termination caused significant harm to Plaintiff and Claimants
who were unable to properly plan for a job transition or make plans for the unexpected and
immediate lack of income caused by the reckless actions of the Company. Plaintiff and all
similarly situated employees seek to recover 60 days wages, benefits, attorneys’ fees and other
damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 2104 for the Company’s reckless conduct.

JURISDICTION & VENUE

2. This Court has federal question jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331 regarding the
Company’s violations of the WARN Act (29 U.S.C. § 2101 et seq.).

3. Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 since a substantial part of the events giving

rise to this claim occurred in this District and Division.
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THE PARTIES

4. Plaintiff Richard Muirbrook (‘“Plaintiff”) is a resident of Salt Lake City, Utah and
worked as a full-time salaried employee with the Company from September 10, 2018, until he was
terminated on April 3, 2019. Plaintiff held the position of Team Vice President of Ticket Sales
and Service and was located in Salt Lake City, Utah.

5. Claimants are similarly situated to Plaintiff and consist of more than 90 former
employees that are residents and employees of the state of Utah, and hundreds of other similarly
situated employees in multiple other states where the Company operated, including, but not limited
to the locations of each team in the Alliance of American Football (teams were located in Utah,
Georgia, Alabama, Tennessee, Florida, Arizona, Texas, and California). Like Plaintiff, Claimants
were not given proper notice under the WARN Act.

6. Defendant Legendary Field Exhibitions, LLC d/b/a Alliance of American Football
(the “Company”), is a Delaware limited liability company, with its principal place of business in
California. The Company registered its limited liability company, Legendary Field Exhibitions,
LLC, and d/b/a, Alliance of American Football, in Utah.

FACTS

Backaground of the Company

7. Around March 20, 2018, the Company announced the launch of a new football

league called the Alliance of American Football (“AAF”).
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8. By June of 2018, AAF announced its eight inaugural teams and their cities as
follows: Salt Lake Stallions, Atlanta Legends, Birmingham Iron, Memphis Express, Orlando
Apollos, Arizona Hotshots, San Antonio Commanders, and San Diego Fleet.

9. During July of 2018, AAF announced that it had signed 100 players. Upon
information and belief, the Company continued hiring employees for each of its teams, including
management, office personnel, and players throughout 2018. For example, AAF held an “Alliance
Scouting Combine” during August of 2018 and the Company signed an additional 250 football
players during that month.

Plaintiff’s Employment with the Company

10.  During August of 2018, Plaintiff was recruited by the Company.

11.  On or around August 24, 2018, Plaintiff signed an employment contract with the
Company to be hired as a Team Vice President of Ticket Sales and Service, located in Salt Lake
City, Utah.

12.  When Plaintiff was hired, he was told, along with other employees, that the
Company had close to $1 billion in funding and that AAF could last three years without selling
any tickets or receiving any sponsors.

13.  AAF’s inaugural 10-week season began on February 9, 2019.

14.  News reports stated that the first AAF football game on CBS drew 2.9 million
viewers, which passed the marquee NBA matchup between the Rockets and Thunder that same

night (2.5 million viewers).
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15.  During February and March of 2019, Plaintiff learned about over-due bills from
vendors and was told by the Company this was normal, that the Company had the money to pay
its vendors, and that the Company only needed to improve its payment process with its accounts.

16.  Other news outlets reported that AAF was going to miss payroll but representatives
from AAF stated that the payroll issues were due to a technical glitch, not funding.

17. Near the end of March, media outlets began reporting that Tom Dundon, an investor
in AAF and chairman of AAF, was threatening to shut-down AAF.

18. Because AAF television ratings were relatively high and the league appeared to be
succeeding, news outlets reported that Mr. Dundon was continuing to threaten a shutdown as a
way to play hardball with the NFL in negotiating a development league. For example, on April 1,
2019, Daniel Kaplan, a sports writer for Sports Business Daily, reported, “Alliance of American
Football owner Tom Dundon tells me a decision whether to shutter the 7 week old league could
come as soon as tomorrow or days. He wants a development agreement with the NFL/NFLPA,

but no evidence they are willing.”

Shutdown of the Company and Termination of Employees

19.  On April 2, 2019, Plaintiff, along with other employees at the Company, received
an email from the Company stating, in part, “Unfortunately, after careful consideration, the board
has decided to suspend operations of the Alliance of American Football, effective immediately. ...
For those employees whom we do not contact individually to discuss an ongoing role or alternative
arrangements, your employment termination date is effective Wednesday, April 3, 2019, and you

will be paid through this date.”
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20.  Shockingly, Plaintiff, along with the Claimants, was provided only one-day notice
of termination from the Company.

21. Ben Kercheval, a CBS sports writer, stated on April 2, 2019, in response to the
Company’s closure, the following: “Just got off the phone with a source close to the AAF. A few
things: (1) No one, I mean no one, gets why Dundon is going this. Not the AAF, nor its partners,
nor the NFL; (2) Just because Dundon is the control owner doesn’t mean it’s his company.
Complications on the horizon.”

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

22.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates each and every allegation of the proceeding
paragraphs as though fully set forth herein.

23.  Plaintiff seeks class certification of his claims under the WARN Act as a class
action under Rule 23, his appointment as an adequate class representative, and his counsel of
record as Class Counsel.

24.  Plaintiff brings his WARN Act claim for relief for violation of 29 U.S.C. § 2101 et
seg., on his own behalf and on behalf of all other similarly situated former employees, pursuant to
29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(5) and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 23(a) and (b), who worked at
or reported to one of the Company’s facilities and were terminated without cause on or about April
3, 2019, in consequence of the mass layoffs and/or plant closings ordered by the Company on or
about April 2, 2019, and who are affected employees, within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(5)
(the “WARN Class”).

25.  The persons in the WARN Class identified above are so numerous that joinder of

all members is impracticable. Although the precise number of such persons is unknown, it is
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estimated to equal or exceed 90 former employees that are residents and employees of the state of
Utah, and hundreds of other similarly situated former employees from other states where the
Company operated including, but not limited to the locations of each team in the AAL (teams were
located in Utah, Georgia, Alabama, Tennessee, Florida, Arizona, Texas, and California). The facts
on which the calculation of that number can be based are presently within the sole control of the
Company. The WARN Class members each worked for the Company more than 6 of the last 12
months prior to their termination on or around April 3, 20109.

26.  Oninformation and belief, the identity of the members of the class and the physical
addresses of each of the WARN Class members is contained in the books and records of the
Company.

27.  On information and belief, the rate of pay and benefits that were being paid by the
Company to each WARN Class member at the time of his/her termination is contained in the books
and records of the Company.

28.  Common questions of law and fact exist as to members of the WARN Class,
including, but not limited to, the following:

a. whether the members of the WARN Class were employees of the Company
who worked at or reported to the Company’s facilities;

b. whether the Company unlawfully terminated the employment of the
members of the WARN Class without cause on their part and without giving them 60 days
advance written notice in violation of the WARN Act; and

C. whether the Company unlawfully failed to pay the WARN Class members

60 days wages and benefits as required by the WARN Act.
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29. The Plaintiff’s claim is typical of those of the WARN Class. The Plaintiff, like other
WARN Class members, worked at or reported to one of Company’s facilities (Salt Lake Stallions)
and was terminated without cause on or about April 3, 2019, due to the mass layoffs and/or plant
closings ordered by the Company.

30.  The notice to the proposed WARN Class members will include an introduction, a
short description of the lawsuit including Plaintiff’s claims and the Company’s response to those
claims, information on how to join the lawsuit, the effect of not joining the lawsuit, and contact
information for the class’s counsel for any questions they may have.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

FEDERAL WARN ACT

31.  Plaintiff incorporates the preceding paragraphs by reference.

32.  Atall relevant times, the Company employed more than 100 full-time employees.

33.  Atall relevant times, the Company was an “employer,” as that term is defined in
29 U.S.C. § 2101 (a)(1) and 20 C.F.R. § 639(a) and continued to operate as a business until it
decided to order a mass layoff or plant closing of its facilities.

34. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and the other similarly situated former employees
were employees of the Company as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. §2101.

35.  Onoraround April 2, 2019, the Company ordered mass layoffs or plant closings at
its facilities, as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(2).

36.  The mass layoffs or plant closings at its facilities resulted in “employment losses,”

as that term is defined by 29 U.S.C. §2101(a)(2) for at least fifty of the Company’s employees and
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33% of the Company’s workforce at its facilities, excluding “part-time employees,” as that term
is defined by 29 U.S.C. § 2101(a)(8).

37.  The Plaintiff and the WARN Class were terminated by the Company without cause
on their part, as part of or as the reasonably foreseeable consequence of the mass layoffs or plant
closings ordered by the Company at its facilities.

38. The Plaintiff and WARN Class members are “affected employees” of the
Company, within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 210I(a)(5).

39.  The Company was required by the WARN Act to give the Plaintiff and the WARN
Class members at least 60 days advance written notice of their terminations.

40.  The Company failed to give the Plaintiff and WARN Class members written notice
that complied with the requirements of the WARN Act.

41. The Plaintiff is, and each of the WARN Class members are, “aggrieved employees”
of the Company as that term is defined in 29 U.S.C. § 2104 (a)(7).

42.  The Company failed to pay the Plaintiff and each of the WARN Class members
their respective wages, salary, commissions, bonuses, accrued holiday pay and accrued vacation
for 60 days following their respective terminations, and failed to make the pension and 401(k)
contributions and provide employee benefits under ERISA, other than health insurance, for 60

days from and after the dates of their respective terminations.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated

employees, prays for judgment against the Company as follows:
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1. The Court certify Plaintiff’s claims under the WARN Act as a class action under
Rule 23, appoint Plaintiff as an adequate class representative, and appoint counsel of record as
Class Counsel,

2. An order awarding WARN Class members their respective wages, salary,
commissions, bonuses, accrued holiday pay and accrued vacation for 60 days following their
respective terminations, and to make any pension and 401(k) contributions and provide employee
benefits under ERISA, other than health insurance, for 60 days from and after the dates of their

respective terminations;

3. An order awarding attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses;
4. Pre- and post-judgment interest at the highest applicable rates; and/or
5. Such other further relief as may be necessary and appropriate.

DATED: April 10, 2019.
Respectfully Submitted,
CLYDE SNOW & SESSIONS
/s/ Christopher B. Snow
Christopher B. Snow

Jonathan D. Bletzacker
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

10
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